FILED  
Nov 02, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 72934-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM RODGERS,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable John M. Meyer, Judge

---

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

JARED B. STEED  
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC  
1908 E Madison Street  
Seattle, WA 98122  
(206) 623-2373

##

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant was denied a fair trial when multiple witnesses gave opinion testimony as to appellant's guilt.
2. Appellant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to improper opinion evidence.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Opinion testimony on guilt invades the province of the jury and violates the constitutional right to a jury trial. During his trial for first degree premeditated murder, appellant's children and friend testified respectively, that that they believed in their gut, heart, and head that appellant was responsible. Appellant's daughter and love interest also testified they did not believe appellant when told about the death. Is reversal required where appellant's right to a fair trial was violated by these multiple improper opinions on guilt?
2. Trial counsel lodged two timely objections to this opinion evidence, which were overruled by the court. Assuming this objection was not sufficient to challenge all the offending opinion evidence on appeal, was defense counsel ineffective for failing to object to every instance of improper opinion evidence where appellant was prejudiced by witness testimony expressing an opinion that he was guilty?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History.

The Skagit County prosecutor charged appellant William Rodgers with one count of first degree premeditated murder by amended information. CP 14-15. A jury found Rodgers guilty. CP 354; 13RP<sup>1</sup> 118-20. The trial court sentenced Rodgers to 320 months imprisonment. CP 192-205; 13RP 158. The trial court also imposed 36 months of community custody. CP 193-205; 13RP 158. Rodgers timely appeals. CP 257.

2. Trial Testimony.

Rodgers was married to Sheri Rodgers. Together they had three children; Nicholas, Natasha, and Jeremiah.<sup>2</sup> 4RP 51, 101; 5RP 38-39. All three children described a pleasant childhood. 4RP 52, 101, 129-30; 5RP 47. They witnessed no physical or domestic violence between their parents. 4RP 65-66, 130-31, 146; 5RP 78, 91-92. Natasha described her parent's marriage as "great," and similar to what she wanted for herself as an adult. 4RP 101.

---

<sup>1</sup> This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – July 30, September 12, and October 2, 2014; 2RP – October 9, 2014; 3RP – October 13, 14, and 15, 2015; 4RP – October 16, 2014; 5RP – October 20, 2014; 6RP – October 21, 2014; 7RP – October 22, 2014; 8RP – October 23, 2014; 9RP – October 24, 2014; 10RP – October 27, 2014; 11RP – October 28, 2014; 12RP – October 29, 2014; 13RP – October 30, 31, 2014 and January 5, 2015.

<sup>2</sup> To avoid confusion, this brief will refer to Sheri, Nicholas, Natasha, and Jeremiah Rodgers by their first names. No disrespect is intended.

In 2011, Rodgers began having an affair with a coworker named Meighan Nichols. 6RP 123-25, 128; 7RP 23-25. Rodgers asked his friend, Mark Thompson, to get him a second phone so he could keep in contact with Nichols without Sheri finding out. Thompson reluctantly agreed. 6RP 101-04. Rodgers told some friends that he was going through marital difficulties but intended to repair his marriage with Sheri. 4RP 141-42; 6RP 10; 7RP 53; 10RP 113, 120.

Rodgers' relationship with his children and Sheri became strained when they learned about the affair. 4RP 52-54, 64, 104-05, 134; 5RP 6, 41-42, 49-51, 78. Rodgers denied the affair with Nichols was sexual. 4RP 102. Friends described Rodgers as distracted and withdrawn during this time. Rodgers' friendships suffered as a result. 1RP 57, 73; 5RP 163; 6RP 103; 7RP 51, 67, 84, 96, 111. Friends, family, and coworkers noticed that Sheri began losing weight and had thinning hair. 4RP 105-06; 5RP 54-55; 7RP 11-12; 8RP 100, 111. Rodgers and Sheri began sleeping in separate bedrooms. 4RP 82-83; 6RP 136-37; 7RP 34.

Around this same time, William West met Rodgers and Sheri online. The three of them met twice for sexual intercourse. 6RP 21-23, 34-35. West found Rodgers "intense" and decided not to meet the two of them anymore. 6RP 24-25, 45. Rodgers encouraged West to continue seeing Sheri. 6RP 25, 35. West continued to have sexual intercourse with Sheri and emailed and



text messaged her. 6RP 26, 35. West and Sheri discussed divorce. West believed Sheri was unhappy and wanted to end her marriage. 6RP 26-27. West never witnessed any physical violence between Rodgers and Sheri. 6RP 31-32.

In the fall of 2011, Rodgers went to his family physician, Roger Estep, in “emotional turmoil.” 11RP 4-5, 17-18. Rodgers reported having nightmares, difficulty sleeping, depression, and anxiety. 11RP 6. Rodgers explained to Estep that he had suffered sexual abuse from his father as a child and had been traumatized by his military experience. 11RP 7-8, 24. Estep diagnosed Rodgers with post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). 11RP 6-8. Estep prescribed Rodgers a sleep aid and anxiety and nightmare reducing medication. 6RP 9, 13, 23-24.

Estep saw Rodgers eight times between September 2011 and April 2012. 11RP 12. Rodgers was “emotionally distraught” and would cry during visits. 11RP 12-13. Estep was concerned that Rodgers would kill himself. 11RP 11. Estep never had any concerns that Rodgers would hurt anyone else. 11RP 15.

Beginning in October 2011, Rodgers also began visiting mental health counselor, Leanne Haywood. 10RP 125, 130. Haywood diagnosed Rodgers with PTSD and depression. 10RP 136. Rodgers told Haywood he was cutting himself as a way to relieve his emotional pain. 10RP 130-35.

Rodgers also told his children and friends about the childhood sex abuse he had suffered and that he was cutting himself to relieve his emotional pain. 1RP 56-57; 4RP 75-77, 138-39; 5RP 3-4, 9, 48, 75-76, 171; 6RP 106; 7RP 66-67; 10RP 114.

Nichols attended three counseling sessions with Rodgers. Rodgers' friend, Tim Livingston, also came to a counseling session. 10RP 131, 141. Sheri and the children attended none of the 22 counseling sessions Rodgers had with Haywood. 7RP 22; 10RP 131.

In February 2012, Rodgers appeared at a counseling session with bruises and scratches on his body. Rodgers told Haywood he had tripped over the family dog and fallen down the stairs. 10RP 140, 147. Haywood described Rodgers as especially upset, tearful, and tortured during a May 2012 counseling session. 10RP 142. Rodgers was suffering "sever flashbacks" from his PTSD. Haywood asked Rodgers if he needed to go to the hospital. 10RP 142-43, 148.

On May 27, 2012, Rodgers and Sheri went to Nate and Jonna Dunham's house for dinner. 7RP 111, 131. Nothing unusual happened during the dinner. 7RP 111-12, 123-24, 127-28, 131, 133. Nate Dunham opined that Rodgers and Sheri "seemed happy." 7RP 112. The Dunham's were not aware at the time that both Rodgers and Sheri were having extramarital affairs. 7RP 118-19, 128, 133. The following day Rodgers and

Livingston planned to pick up a barbecue Rodgers had purchased. 1RP 67-68. Sheri had plans to meet a friend at 9:00 a.m. for coffee. 8RP 101-03.

The morning of May 28, 2012, Rodgers called Livingston “very frantic,” and said that Sheri had fallen and was unresponsive. 1RP 23. Livingston went to Rodgers’ house and found Rodgers, “distraught, frankly, agitated.” 1RP 33, 62, 65. Sheri was lying on the stairs with her feet pointed downward. 1RP 29, 65. She was not breathing. 1RP 32, 66. Rodgers said he had not performed CPR because he didn’t want to hurt her. 1RP 33-34. Livingston noticed a small bruise on the left side of Sheri’s neck. 1RP 40. Rodgers had fresh scratches on his face and head. 1RP 38-39, 62-64. Rodgers told Livingston the family dog had scratched him. 1RP 39.

Sheri’s glasses were on the stairs. 1RP 28-29; 3RP 88. A pink scuba tank was at the bottom of the stairs. 7RP 149, 162. There was a pink mark on the wall next to the stairs. An “irregular shaped” hole was in the drywall near the fourth step. 3RP 127-28; 5RP 128; 6RP 59-62, 68, 75-76. Screws were missing from the center of the handrail on the steps. Sections of the handrail were also loose. 6RP 118; 10RP 54-55.

Shortly before emergency responders arrived, Rodgers’ next door neighbor, Jan Thorton, opened her window. 7RP 143-44. Thorton heard someone at the front of Rodgers’ house sob, and say, “I didn’t mean to hurt her.” 7RP 144-45.

Rodgers was hyperventilating when emergency responders arrived at the house. 3RP 101. Medics noticed bruising on Sheri's neck and left eye. 3RP 115, 123, 129-30. Rodgers had scratches on his face and head. 3RP 101, 116, 120, 148, 151, 154. Rodgers became "hysterical, very distraught, irrational," upon being told Sheri was dead. 3RP 147-48.

Paramedic, Yvonne North, and Battalion Fire Chief, Mike Voss, observed Rodgers clawing at, and rubbing gravel on his face and head. 3RP 134-35, 140, 143, 151, 154. Voss opined that Rodgers was trying to cover up combat wounds. 3RP 136, 139-40.

Fire chaplain, Alan Graves, spent about three hours with Rodgers after Sheri's death. 5RP 138, 143. Graves opined Rodgers' behavior was consistent with someone suffering grief and shock. 5RP 139, 145-47. Graves noticed scratch marks on Rodgers head but did not observe him self-inflict any injuries. 5RP 139-41, 144-45. Graves noted it was not unusual for someone in a similar situation to self-inflict injuries. 5RP 144-45.

Other friends arrived at Rodgers' house in the hours after the incident. 5RP 162; 6RP 108; 7RP 61, 99. Rodgers told them that he was helping Sheri move items the day of the incident. Sheri was at the bottom of the stairs when Rodgers returned after temporarily leaving the room. 7RP 63-64, 99-100. Rodgers believed Sheri had fallen down the stairs. CP 36-

37. Rodgers told Natasha and friends that he had been scratched by the dog. 4RP 116-17, 145; 5RP 177; 6RP 13, 109-09; 7RP 63, 101.

Rodgers began making funeral arrangements with Natasha the same day. 4RP 117-19. The burial cost was \$2,670. 5RP 152. Rodgers had previously obtained \$15,000 from his mother-in-law. 4RP 121-22, 147-48. Funeral director, Rex Watt, believed Rodgers reaction to Sheri's death was "perfectly natural." 5RP 150. Rodgers asked Watt to make Sheri's body viewable. Watt's opinion was that viewing was not appropriate because of bruising on Sheri's head, eyes, and cheeks. 5RP 151-53. Rodgers asked Watt about bruising on Sheri's neck. In response, Watt looked at Sheri's neck and saw bruising that looked like a handprint. 5RP 154-55.

Rodgers met with police and also explained to them that he was helping Sheri move items the day of the incident. Sheri was at the bottom of the stairs when Rodgers returned after temporarily leaving the room. CP 16-56; 3RP 100-01, 104; 4RP 14-17. Police obtained a DNA sample from Rodgers and permission from him to search the house. 3RP 162-63; 6RP 47; 8RP 16.

An autopsy was done on Sheri the day after the incident. 7RP 157-58; 8RP 22; 9RP 83, 86. Forensic pathologist, Daniel Selove, opined that Sheri died of strangulation. 9RP 87, 120-21, 123-25. Sheri had marks on her front left neck and a fractured larynx. 9RP 91, 106-07, 113, 115-18.

Selove believed those injuries were inconsistent with what someone would suffer from falling down the stairs. 9RP 92, 116-17, 133. Petechia was observed in Sheri's upper right eye. 9RP 127, 147-48. Selove ruled out positional asphyxiation as a possible cause of death. 9RP 125-26.

Selove also opined that Sheri suffered non-deadly injuries consistent with falling down the stairs. 9RP 87, 91-93, 97-98, 124. Selove opined injuries to Sheri's right hand, wrist, and forearm were consistent with defensive wounds. 9RP 99-104, 124, 138. Police concluded that blood underneath one of Sheri's right fingernails matched Rodgers' DNA profile, and the match was not expected to occur more frequently than one in 58-six-trillion. 8RP 58-59; 9RP 123, 130. Testing of Sheri's left hand showed the presence of male DNA but the amount was insufficient for testing. 8RP 57, 64-65. There was no physical damage to Sheri's fingernails. 9RP 132, 148.

Police took nail clippings from Rodgers' dog three days after the incident. 8RP 73-74, 82. Testing revealed no blood on the dog nail clippings. 8RP 59-60. Police acknowledged they did not know what happened with the dog between the time of the incident and when the nail clippings were obtained. 8RP 83.

Detective Jared Ely seized thumb drives and memory disks from Rodgers' house. 6RP 47, 53. Ely also seized a laptop computer from a dresser drawer in the master bedroom. 6RP 53; 7RP 167-68; 10RP 20. He

observed the same laptop in the kitchen of the house on the day of the incident. 7RP 168. The name of the laptop was "Bill PC" and the laptop software was registered to "Bill." 10RP 28.

The laptop contained Google internet searches and emails to Nichols. 10RP 22. Time stamps on the emails to Nichols matched time stamps in which Rodgers' username was logged in on the computer. 10RP 28-29, 110. A website which included, "25 methods for killing with your bare hands," was accessed on May 5, 2012. 10RP 37. Later activity at the same website included, "ten ways to commit the perfect crime." 10RP 40-41, 55. The website was accessed for about seven minutes. 10RP 60, 81. Ely did not have the full internet history for the laptop. 10RP 37. Ely could not say whether the website content was actually viewed. 10RP 42, 60, 71.

Specific searches were not performed for "ten ways to commit the perfect crime," and "25 methods for killing with your bare hands." 10RP 41-42, 60, 71-72. Rather, internet "cookies" for the websites were placed on the laptop. 10RP 70, 76-77. Ely opined that the "cookies" would not exist if the website had not actually been clicked on. 10RP 76-77.

Between May 20 and 27, 2012, internet searches were conducted for "is it really possible to break someone's neck by twisting it with my hands like in the movies?" "how to break a chicken's neck," and "how dangerous is it to fall down stairs." 10RP 39-40, 43-47, 84. Ely also opined an internet

search for “how to break a neck,” was completed. 10RP 26, 39-40. Such a search was not contained in the laptop’s internet search history and Ely could not therefore determine an exact timeframe in which such a search was conducted. 10RP 26.

Information security officer, Leslie Trout, also examined Rodgers’ laptop and disputed some of Ely’s conclusions. 11RP 29-33. Like Ely, Trout concluded that specific searches were not performed for “ten ways to commit the perfect crime,” and “25 methods for killing with your bare hands.” Rather, internet “cookies” for the websites were placed on the laptop. 11RP 40-41, 49-53. Unlike Ely however, Trout opined that the “cookies” would be placed on the laptop even if the website link was not actually clicked on. 11RP 41-42, 48-53. Trout found no evidence that a search was completed for “top ten prison survival tips.” 11RP 48.

Trout opined that a search was completed for “how to break a ‘N.’” Google’s function auto-completed “N” to include the word neck, and a link containing that search string was then clicked on. 11RP 38, 65. Trout concluded, “there wasn’t sufficient evidence to show that the user searched for how to break a neck per se as much as it was auto-completed or how dangerous it is to fall down the stairs, but there were search strings that were part of that.” 11RP 46-47. Trout found no data files on the laptop that



corroborated that either of the searches were clicked on and viewed. 11RP 47-48.

At trial, Nichols maintained that despite their affair, she and Rodgers agreed they were not going to leave their respective spouses. 7RP 25. Rodgers told Nichols he would never ask her to leave her husband and that “if it worked out,” maybe they could be together in the future. 6RP 133. Nichols denied that Rodger ever mentioned hurting or killing Sheri. 7RP 32. Rather, Rodgers “mostly talked very lovely about” Sheri. 7RP 40. Nichols believed Rodgers was trying to work through things with Sheri. 7RP 32-33. Nichols also described seeing Rodgers experience a panic or flashback attack on one occasion. 7RP 43.

Nichols explained Rodgers would often help her conduct research for classes she was enrolled in. 6RP 129, 155; 7RP 25-27. Rodgers and Nichols also exchanged emails. 6RP 127; 11RP 85. In one email, Rodgers mentioned wanting to hit Sheri in the face. 6RP 149-50. In another email, Rodgers told Nichols he would give Sheri sleeping pills to avoid being sexually intimate with her. 7RP 18; 12RP 39-40. In late May 2012, Rodgers emailed Nichols describing how upset he was that Sheri blamed him for the breakdown of his family’s relationship. 12RP 34, 43-45. Shortly thereafter, someone alleged conducted the internet search for, “is it really possible to

break someone's neck by twisting it with my hands like in the movies?"  
10RP 28-29, 39, 47-48, 110.

About two and a half years after the incident, Rodgers was interviewed separately by psychologist, Delton Young, and psychiatrist, Mark McClung. 9RP 8, 11-13, 34-35, 58, 78; Young and McClung came to different conclusions based on their interviews with Rodgers.

Young diagnosed Rodgers with PTSD, anxiety, and major depression. 9RP 41-43. Rodgers described to Young the events leading up to the incident. Rodgers explained that he was roughhousing with the dog and pulling on Sheri's bathrobe in an effort to get her to play. Sheri refused because she had a meeting. The dog then scratched Rodgers and Sheri. In response, Sheri slapped Rodgers which triggered a "dissociative flashback." Because of the "dissociate flashback," Rodgers believed he was being brutalized by his father and fighting for his life. 9RP 43-47. Rodgers could not recall what happened to Sheri but when his mental functioning cleared he saw her lying motionless at the bottom of the stairs. 9RP 44, 62. Rodgers concluded that he must have strangled Sheri. 9RP 64, 80. Rodgers denied to Young that he had completed the alleged internet searches about killing someone with bare hands. 9RP 61.

Rodgers told Young that he made up the story about helping Sheri move equipment in an effort to delay his arrest. Rodgers explained that he

intended to use the extra time to get his children home, say goodbye, and then commit suicide. 9RP 45-46, 63-64. Young noted that he would not be surprised if Rodgers' had engaged in self-harming behavior after the incident ended. 9RP 51.

Young opined that Rodgers account of the incident was consistent with what would occur in a "severe violent dissociate flashback." 9RP 44. Accordingly, Young opined that if Rodgers experienced a dissociative flashback his ability to form the requisite intent and understand the nature, quality, and wrongfulness of his alleged acts would have been "severely impaired." 9RP 48-49.

McClung also diagnosed with PTSD and depression. 12RP 21-22, 25, 65. In addition, McClung diagnosed Rodgers with antisocial and borderline personality trait disorder. 12RP 25. McClung noted that consistent with his PTSD, Rodgers "had a higher than usual history of dissociative experiences." 12RP 19.

Rodgers also described to McClung the events leading up to the incident. 12RP 50, 62, 74. Rodgers reported that after coming up on Sheri with his forearm, he fell into a fetal position, and things became "foggy" before gradually clearing. Rodgers was uncertain how much time had passed. 12RP 100-02.

Rodgers explained to McClung that he was engaging in self-harm when he rubbed gravel on his face and head. 12RP 51-52, 88. McClung questioned whether Rodgers intended to hide injuries by rubbing gravel on his face and head since his behavior was inconsistent with his normal self-harm habit of cutting himself. 12RP 52, 68, 88-90. McClung opined that Rodgers level of deceit exceeded what he would expect from someone involved in an extramarital affair. 12RP 29-30, 47, 70-71, 75, 108. McClung also believed Rodgers' obtaining of \$15,000 after the incident was inconsistent with someone intending to commit suicide. 12RP 49.

Unlike Young, McClung assumed that the alleged internet searches were conducted by Rodgers. 9RP 54-55, 60-61; 12RP 65-66. McClung explained that the internet searches were significant, but not necessary, to his conclusions. 12RP 71-72, 87-88. McClung opined that Rodgers' reported dissociative experience of fighting back against his father was inconsistent with the lack of any reported instances in which Rodgers had previously acted out violently toward his father. 12RP 57-58, 85. McClung also believed there should have been more evidence of Rodgers experiencing dissociate experiences previously. 12RP 75. McClung concluded that Rodgers mental disorder did not interfere with his ability to know the identity of who he was attacking and did not render him incapable of forming the requisite intent for the incident. 12RP 63-64, 106.

3. Opinion Testimony.

a. *Pretrial Motion to Exclude*

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