72934-9 72934-9

FILED
Feb 24, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72934-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent,

v.

WILLIAM RODGERS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable John M. Meyer, Judge

•

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ERIK PEDERSEN, WSBA#20015 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex 605 South Third Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 336-9460

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

Mark Thompson testified that Rodgers was acting in a little bit of shock, could not sit still and got upset. 10/21/14 RP 5.

- Q. Did you notice anything strange about how he was acting at any point?
- **A.** Well, at one point he stared at me, gave me this look that made me doubt what had happened.
- **Q.** Why do you say that?
- **A.** It was just, I don't know how to describe it. It was a look of I knew in my head what did you do, Bill?
- **Q.** That was what you thought?
- **A.** That's what I thought.

10/21/14 RP 110. Defense objected as speculation. The objection was

overruled. 10/21/14 RP 110.

Thompson's statement was offered as a description by Thompson of the look that Rodgers gave to him as opposed to an expression of the witnesses' opinion as to guilt. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the subsequent objection.

IV. Meghan Nichols questioning of the defendant was not an expression of guilt.

Meighan Nichols questioning of Rodgers' explanation was also offered for Rodgers' response.

- **Q.** What was that conversation about?
- A. I don't remember the whole conversation. But I just remember saying: Are you okay? How did this happen? What happened? And he said that he was rough housing with the dog. And he went downstairs and Sheri was putting away her scuba tank. And that I don't recall if he said he heard her fall or just saw her at the bottom of the stairs.
- Q. You don't recall if he said --
- **A.** I don't recall if he said he heard her or if he found her at the bottom of the stairs.
- **Q.** And what was his -- was he emotional when you were talking?
- A. Yes.
- **Q.** What did he sound like?
- **A.** He sounded sad.
- **Q.** Did you talk about anything else?
- A. I said I asked him about the dog, and he said that he had gotten scratched. And I said: Bill, are you sure that's what happened? And he said: Yes, that Sheri was upset that he was rough housing with the dog.
- **Q.** Why did you ask if he was sure that was what had happened?
- **A.** I don't know.

- **Q.** You said Sheri was upset with the dog?
- **A.** Sheri was upset with how he was rough housing with the dog.
- Q. He didn't mention anything else other than rough housing with the dog?
- A. No.
- **Q.** Did he say why Sheri was upset?
- **A.** No. He said he was playing too rough with the dog, and she was upset about it.
- **Q.** Had you known Mr. Rodgers to rough house with his dog?
- **A.** I wouldn't say rough house, but, I don't know, he was playful with the dog. He had a good relationship with his dog.
- **Q.** Did you see him interact with the dog?
- **A.** Uh-huh.
- **Q.** When you were at their house or other times?
- **A.** Yes, at the house, yes.
- **Q.** And did you ever know Mr. Rodgers to have injuries on him?
- A. Yes.
- **Q.** Were they dog-related injuries?
- **A.** No.

10/21/14 RP 158-9 (bold emphasis added).

Nichols testimony questioning Rodgers was not offered for Nichols opinion but for the strength of assertion by Rodgers statement "yes" and other explanation made by Rodgers thereafter when confronted.

iii. Where the defendant failed to raise this issue timely below, he is precluded from arguing the error for the first time on appeal.

Rodgers did not object to the statements of Nicholas Rodgers or Meighan Nichols. His later objections made did not ask that the testimony be stricken and instead asked that any further witnesses be instructed "to hold off on any gut feels unless they can lay a better foundation for where that's relevant." 10/22/14 RP 87.

Thus, Nicholas and Nichols testimony cannot be the basis for reversal unless the court permits the error to be raised under RAP 2.5(a)(3) as a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

Instructive on this issue are the cases of *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008) and *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007), cited by Rodgers.

In *Montgomery*, a detective and a chemist, opined about Montgomery's guilt and specifically testified that Montgomery met the crime's intent requirement was found to be clearly improper opinion evidence. *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 587-9. However, the court held the defendant failed to establish the necessary prejudice because the jury was properly instructed on credibility and had failed to raise the issue below.

In *Kirkman*, in two consolidated cases, the detective involved testified about the child interview protocol where children make a promise to tell the truth and a doctor testified that one child's statements were "clear and consistent" and the other "had good language skills for her age, she spoke clearly" and the child's statements were not inconsistent with the physical findings. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 920, 932.

In Kirkman, this court concluded there was no prejudice in large

part because, the jury was properly instructed that jurors "are the sole judges of the credibility of witnesses," and that jurors "are not bound" by expert witness opinions. *Id.* (*quoting clerk's papers*).

This court holds that testimony of an investigating officer or examining doctor if not objected to at trial does not necessarily give rise to a manifest constitutional error. Manifest error requires an explicit or almost explicit witness statement on an ultimate issue of fact. We reverse the Court of Appeals in both Kirkman and Candia.

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 938, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).

Similarly here, the judge instructed the jurors they were the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses. CP 59. Any error in admission of statements of Nicholas and Nicholas were not manifest error for which review should be permitted.

iv. Given Rodgers' acknowledgement his wife was strangled, and contention he was in a dissociative state, the witness opinions did not address the ultimate issue of the defendant's state of mind.

One of the five factors in evaluating whether there was an impermissible expression of opinion evidence is the nature of the defense. Here, Rodgers initially asserted a defense of denial by a claim of accident by his statements. The witness questioning of Rodgers focused on the claim that Sheri fell down the stairs and the dog had scratched him.

However, by trial Rodgers' expert acknowledged that the evidence showed that Sheri was strangled. 10/24/14 RP 44. And the defense expert

even acknowledged that the defendant admitted to him that he lied about claiming that Sheri died by falling down the stairs. 10/24/14 RP 45. Thus, the issue before the jury ended up being the claimed dissociative state of the defendant as opposed to the truth of the claim that Sheri died by falling down the stairs on her own.

v. The other cases cited by Rodgers are so factually different from the present case that they provide little guidance to the issues before this court.

In *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn. App. 924, 219 P.3d 958 (2009), in a child sex offense case, the State elicited testimony that the wife of the defendant began freaking out and told the child she was right when the child described a lesion on the defendant's penis and the manner in which the defendant masturbated. The Court of Appeals reversed the conviction because the wife's opinions were collateral, shed little or no light on witness credibility and were the wife's own statements as to the wife's belief of the accusations. *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn. App. 933-4. Thus, even though not objected to at trial, the errors were found to be manifest and permitted the defendant to raise the claim for the first time on appeal.

In *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987) the use of the term "Rape Trauma Syndrome" was held to be an improper assertion by the expert that the victim was telling the truth and was in fact raped. Expert testimony which purports to scientifically prove the alleged victim

of rape is suffering from rape trauma is thus unfairly prejudicial and inadmissible. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d at 349-50.

In *State v. Farr-Lenzini*, 93 Wn. App. 453, 970 P.2d 313 (1999) a trooper testified the defendant was trying to get away from him and knew the trooper was behind him without foundation to establish the opinion. The testimony was held to be an improper lay opinion where defendant's intent to elude a police officer was an element of the crime. *State v. Farr-Lenzini*, 93 Wn. App. at 463.

In *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992) in a case involving two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree, the child victim's counselor testified that he believed the child was not lying. Because the issue of credibility in a child sexual offense is a crucial issue, the witnesses' testimony effectively told the jury the defendant was guilty and grounds for reversal. *State v. Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. 154.

In *State v. Lahti*, 23 Wn. App. 648, 597 P.2d 937 (1979), a wife was impeached about statements she made indicating she had suspicions of sexual abuse when the daughter's accusations were first raised. Two witnesses were called by the State over objection to impeach the mother's denial. The Court of Appeals found those were improper impeachment of a collateral matter.

In contrast to these cases, the present case did not involve

expressions of guilt or veracity of the defendant, but where questions posed or descriptions of observations of the defendant which touched on the defendant's version of the events, later conceded to be false.

2. Where the defense focus was on the dissociative state as described the expert and the witnesses were describing Rodgers' denials, Rodgers cannot establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2-prong test in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record below. State v. White, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (citing State v. Gilmore, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)).

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-5, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (emphasis added).

Courts engage in a strong presumption counsel's representation was effective. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995); *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226, 743 P.2d 816. Where, as here, the claim is brought on direct appeal, the reviewing court will not consider matters outside the trial record. *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 335, 804 P.2d 10, *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1237, 111 S.Ct. 2867, 115 L.Ed.2d 1033 (1991); *State v. Blight*, 89 Wn.2d

38, 45-46, 569 P.2d 1129 (1977).

State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (emphasis added).

At the outset a claim of ineffective assistance has to establish deficient performance at the outset. As described above, proper admission of the testimony of the witness precludes a finding of deficient performance. But even if there was improper admission of evidence, Rodgers fails to establish prejudice.

The case turned on whether the jury believed Rodgers was in a dissociative state. It was clear from the tenor and content of the testimony of his children, that Rodgers' children did not believe their father's story because they questioned him about it. Although his responses were relevant, Rodgers' counsel ended up countering the position by pointing out that these where the children's opinions and that Rodgers' actions were out of character. Defense also pointed out their bias.

Nicolas acknowledged there was never any domestic violence in the house, that he had never seen his father violent toward anyone and described him as nonviolent. 10/16/14 RP 65-6. Defense counsel also elicited Nicholas' own opinions of his father.

- Q. How do you feel about your dad?
- A. Right now?
- Q. Right now as you are sitting here.

- A. I can't believe everything that is coming from that corner. I can't believe --
- Q. By "that corner" which are you talking about?
- A. I'm talking about the defense table. I can't believe the type of excuses that are coming up to try to defend every single angle to this. It makes me sick.
- Q. And that's really how you see it too, as just an excuse, right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Have you been talking with the State, the prosecutors, and the police?
- A. To be honest with you, no.
- Q. Then how do you know what excuses the defense is coming up with?
- A. By reading the papers.

10/15/14 RP 67.

- Q. You grew up with your dad. He was an involved dad, wasn't he?
- A. Yes. Well, let me answer your question. For 26 years no, I can't see him being violent. No, I can't see him doing the things he did. But it doesn't change what has happened.
- Q. But you weren't there, right?
- A. No, I wasn't.
- Q. And really you are basing your comments about excuses that's not on your own first-hand knowledge but on what some reporter has written in the newspaper; is that right?
- A. I'm basing it off of what I've seen. I'm basing it off of how I feel about how he's talked to me. I'm basing it off of the tone of voice of how he's told me things. I'm basing it off of things that have happened with my sister, with my brother, with my whole entire family, with everybody that was on the scene. I'm basing it off of facts and science.

10/15/14 RP 68.

Natasha acknowledged he had a great childhood and her parents

raised the kids to be proper, strong and intellectual open thinkers. 10/15/14 RP 129. There was no domestic violence or slapping in the home. 10/15/14 RP 130-1. As with Nicholas defense also elicited her opinions.

I feel like that whole entire day -- in fact, he told me, he opened up to me about his childhood and all of that stuff when he didn't want to talk to me months prior about it. Then he prepped me for when he was going to be arrested and telling me I rubbed rocks on my face. I just felt like he was trying to make sure that he was pulling the daddy card and making sure that I would defend him.

10/15/14 RP 140.

Rodgers' counsel questioned Natasha that her opinion was the scratches on her father were not from a dog. 10/15/14 RP 145. Defense went on to point out that Rodgers preached that a man never lays a hand on a woman and that she had never seen Rodgers punch, kick or slap anyone. 10/15/14 RP 146.

- Q. Now, your initial reaction was that you thought that these scratch marks that you saw on your dad had come from your mom?
- **A.** Uh-huh.
- Q. That was just based on she's dead. He's got marks on his face so one plus one must equal two, right?
- **A.** I just didn't. I didn't believe that a dog's paw, the fact that every single scratch mark was separated and dug in.

10/15/14 RP 145.

Defense also questioned Jeremiah about his own PTSD diagnosis eliciting that Rodgers was supportive. 10/16/14 59-61. Rodgers counsel

sought to point out Jeremiah questioned whether the injuries to his father's face were self-inflicted contending he was "not buying any of that." 10/16/14 RP 69-70.

Where the defense had to establish a dissociative state to prevail on the case, they had to establish something out of character for Rodgers. His counsel used his children's opinions of his character and their bias to support the theory that Sheri was strangled out of character in a dissociative state.

No prejudice can be established.

3. Given the issue in the case being whether the defendant was in a dissociative state, even if the admission of the statements are held to be opinions as to guilt or veracity, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

We will not reverse due to an error in admitting evidence that does not result in prejudice to the defendant. *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Where the error is from violation of an evidentiary rule rather than a constitutional mandate, we do not apply the more stringent "harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt" standard. *Id.* Instead, we apply "the rule that error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). "The improper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole." *Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d at 403.

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

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